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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
 
ORGANIZATION OF PROFESSIONAL 
AVICULTURISTS, INC 
 
and 
 
LINEOLATED PARAKEET SOCIETY  
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

v.    Case No.: 
 

 
U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE;  
 

Defendant. 
______________________________________/ 

 
 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

 The plaintiffs, the Organization of Professional Aviculturists, Inc. (OPA) and the Lineo-

lated Parakeet Society (LPS), by and through undersigned counsel submit this complaint for De-

claratory and Injunctive Relief, and in support thereof, alleges as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This action is brought against the defendants, and those acting under them, for 

failure to comply with their federally mandated duties under the Wild Exotic Bird Conservation 

Act (“WBCA”), codified at 16 U.S.C § 4901 - 4916; title 50 of the Code of Federal Regulations; 

the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. §§ 555(b), 701, et seq. 

2. As such, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (fed-

eral question arising under the law of the United States) and 28 U.S.C. § 1346 (actions against 

the United States). 
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3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.SC. §1391(e) because “a substantial part 

of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim[s]” occurred in this district.  

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff, the Organization of Professional Aviculturists, Inc. (OPA), is a national, 

non-profit 501(c)(6) organization focused on sustainable U.S. and international trade and conser-

vation of avian species.  

a. The OPA represents, supports, and acts on behalf of professional aviculturists.   

b. A professional aviculturist is anyone whose profession includes aspects of caring, 

breeding, or promoting the continued existence of avian species in the wild and 

captivity.   

c. The OPA represents many of the most well-regarded aviculturists in the United 

States. 

d. The OPA promotes its mission as U.S. based delegate to the Convention on Inter-

national Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES).  

e. As well as by educating the aviculture public on the lawful and sustainable ways 

to promote U.S. aviculture through its social media accounts, its direct communi-

cations with its members, and through lecturing at avicultural events.  

f. The OPA is incorporated in Florida, with its principal place of business in Lake-

land, Florida.  OPA’s business is regularly conducted in Lakeland, Florida, Mi-

ami, Florida, and via teleconference with board members located in Florida, Cali-

fornia, Oklahoma, and Texas.   

5. Plaintiff, the Lineolated Parakeet Society (LPS) is a nonprofit 501(c)(4) organiza-

tion established in 2006, whose purpose is to represent the Lineolated Parakeet (Bolborhyncus 
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lineola), the breeders of said species, and to educate the public about keeping and breeding these 

birds in captivity. 

a. The LPS is incorporated in Texas, with its principal place of business in Texas.   

b. The LPS runs the “It’s Not Easy Being Green” project through which they pro-

mote the breeding of genetically pure green-type Lineolated Parakeets for the pur-

pose of the promoting continued viability of the U.S. bloodlines.  

c. The LPS has provided green-type Lineolated Parakeets to the Smithsonian’s Na-

tional Zoo in Washington D.C.  

6. Defendant, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, is an agency within the Department of 

Interior that is charged with implementing the Wild Exotic Bird Conservation Act and adjudicat-

ing the OPA and LPS petitions filed pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 4909. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

7. The Wild Exotic Bird Conservation Act (WBCA), codified at 16 U.S.C § 4901 - 

4916, was originally passed into law on October 23, 1992.  

8. The self-professed purpose of the WBCA is:  

To promote the conservation of exotic birds by— (1) assisting wild 
bird conservation and management programs in the countries of 
origin of wild birds; (2) ensuring that all trade in species of exotic 
birds involving the United States is biologically sustainable and is 
not detrimental to the species; (3) limiting or prohibiting imports of 
exotic birds when necessary to ensure that—(A) wild exotic bird 
populations are not harmed by removal of exotic birds from the 
wild for the trade; or (B) exotic birds in trade are not subject to in-
humane treatment; and (4) encouraging and supporting effective 
implementation of the Convention. 
 

16 U.S.C § 4902 (emphasis added.)  
.  
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9. The reference to Convention, “means the Convention on International Trade in 

Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora, as amended, signed in Washington on March 3, 

1973, and the Appendices.” 16 U.S.C § 4903(1). Abbreviated as the CITES. 

10. The WBCA restricts the importation “exotic birds” that are “not indigenous to the 

50 States or the District of Columbia” and “listed in any Appendix to the Convention.” 16 

U.S.C § 4904(c).   

11. On October 23, 1993, the “importation of any exotic bird of a species that is listed 

in any Appendix to the Convention is prohibited unless the Secretary makes the findings de-

scribed in section 4905(c) of this title and includes the species in the list published under section 

4905(a) of this title.”  16 U.S.C. § 4904(3).  

12. This provision created a moratorium on imports for the purpose of temporarily 

halting importation to the United States to “ensure that the market in the United States for exotic 

birds does not operate to the detriment of the survival of species in the wild.”  16 U.S.C. § 

4901(2)  

13. This moratorium on imports affected and continues to affect 320 of the approxi-

mately 350 species of Psittaciformes, i.e. parrots, the few exceptions to the moratorium are found 

at 50 C.F.R. § 15.33. 

14. The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (“USFWS”) was delegated, through 

the Secretary of the Department of the Interior, the authority to implement the WBCA. 50 C.F.R. 

§ 1.2. 

15. The USFWS is required to “periodically . . . after notice and an opportunity for 

public comment, publish in the Federal Register a list of species of exotic birds that are listed in 
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an Appendix to the Convention and that are not subject to a prohibition or suspension of importa-

tion.” 16 U.S.C. § 4905(a)(1). 

16. Since the passage of the WBCA in 1992, the USFWS has only once taken any ac-

tion to amend the lists of species that are not subject to the moratorium.  

17. On December 2, 1994, the USFWS promulgated the current WBCA list of ap-

proved species permitted for import to the United States. 59 FR 62255.  

18. Cactus Conure (Aratinga cactorum) and green-form Lineolated Parakeets (Bol-

borhynchus lineola) are not on the approved list. 

19. That list has not been amended since that time, nor has the USFWS conducted 

any periodic review. 

20. For over 30 years, the USFWS, through its application of the WBCA has effec-

tively closed the legal importation to the United States of captive-bred CITES-listed exotic birds 

without justification. 50 C.F.R. § 15.33. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

21. On June 3, 2021, the plaintiff, OPA filed a petition for rulemaking pursuant to 16 

U.S.C § 4909 with the defendants for the purpose of adding Cactus Conure (Aratinga cactorum) 

captive-bred in the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, Italy, Poland, Austria, Denmark, 

Netherlands, Czech Republic, and Slovakia, to the list of approved species for import to the 

United States under 16 U.S.C § 4905. 

22. On July 11, 2021, the plaintiffs, OPA and LPS, filed a joint petition for rulemak-

ing pursuant to 16 U.S.C § 4909 with the defendants for the purpose of adding green-form Line-

olated Parakeets (Bolborhynchus lineola) captive-bred in the United Kingdom, France, Germany, 
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Spain, Italy, Poland, Austria, Denmark, Netherlands, Czech Republic, and Slovakia, to the list of 

approved species for import to the United States under 16 U.S.C § 4905. 

23. On July 28, 2021, the defendants denied the June 3, 2021, petition for Cactus 

Conures on the grounds that the agency had failed to implement in its regulations 16 U.S.C. § 

4905(a)(2), which requires the USFWS to list species as to “the countries of origin from which 

the species may be imported,” and thus determined that the petition was invalid under the 

WBCA’s regulations.  

24. On July 28, 2021, the defendants denied the July 11, 2021, petition for Lineolated 

Parakeets on the grounds that the agency had failed to implement in its regulations 16 U.S.C. § 

4905(a)(2), which requires the USFWS to list species as to “the countries of origin from which 

the species may be imported,” and thus determined that the petition was invalid under the 

WBCA’s regulations. 

CAUSES OF ACTION  
 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF (5 U.S.C. § 706(1)) 

25. The allegations in paragraphs 1-24 are realleged and incorporated herein. 

26. Section 4905(a)(2) of the WBCA unequivocally requires the USFWS to list a cap-

tive-bred species which can be imported to the United States with respect to "the countries of 

origin from which the species may be imported.” 16 U.S.C. § 4905(a)(2)(A).    

27. The decisions of USFWS finding the plaintiffs have not submitted valid petitions 

because their implementing regulations of the WBCA do not allow for the inclusion of species 

on the approved list for captive-bred species in such a country-by-country manner violates the 

WBCA and the Code of Federal Regulations and constitutes agency action “unlawfully with-

held” and “unreasonably delayed” in violation of the APA. 5 U.S.C. § 706(1).  
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28. As a direct and proximate result of the USFWS’ unlawful action, the USFWS has 

caused and will continue to cause the plaintiffs injuries by preventing them from effectively act-

ing in accordance with their organizational purposes 

 
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF (5 U.S.C. § 706(2)) 

29. The allegations in paragraphs 1-24 are realleged and incorporated herein.  

30. Section 4905(a)(2) of the WBCA unequivocally requires the USFWS to list a cap-

tive-bred species which can be imported to the United States with respect to "the countries of 

origin from which the species may be imported.” 16 U.S.C. § 4905(a)(2)(A).    

31. The decisions of USFWS finding the plaintiffs have not submitted valid petitions 

because their implementing regulations of the WBCA do not allow for the inclusion of species in 

the approved list for captive-bred species in such a country-by-country manner violates the 

WBCA and the Code of Federal Regulations and constitutes agency action that is “arbitrary, ca-

pricious, and abuse of discretion, and contrary to law,” in violation of the APA. 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2). 

32. As a direct and proximate result of the USFWS’ unlawful action, the USFWS has 

caused and will continue to cause the plaintiffs injuries by preventing them from effectively act-

ing in accordance with their organizational purposes.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the plaintiffs pray that this Honorable Court grants the following relief: 

(a) Assume jurisdiction over this matter; 
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(b) Declare that the USFWS’ failure to adjudicate the plaintiffs’ petitions violates the 

WBCA, at 16 U.S.C § 4901 – 4916, and constitutes agency action “unlawfully with-

held” and/or “unreasonably delayed” in violation of Section 706(1) of the APA, 5 

U.S.C. § 706(1);  

(c) Declare that the USFWS’ failure to adjudicate the plaintiffs’ petitions violates the 

WBCA, at 16 U.S.C § 4901 – 4916, and constitutes agency action “arbitrary, capri-

cious, an abuse of discretion, and/or contrary to law” in violation of Section 706(2) of 

the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2);  

(d) Order the defendants to publish in the Federal Register a preliminary finding on the 

plaintiffs’ petitions for the approval of the import of captive-bred Cactus Conure 

(Aratinga cactorum) and green-form Lineolated Parakeets (Bolborhynchus lineola) 

on a country-by-country basis within 90 days of this Court’s order, as required by  16 

U.S.C § 4909(b)(1); 

(e) Retain jurisdiction over this case to ensure compliance with all of this Court’s orders; 

(f) Award Plaintiffs their attorney’s fees and expenses as allowed pursuant to the Equal Ac-

cess to Justice Act (EAJA), 28 U.S.C.§ 2412 et seq., and as permitted by other applicable 

law;  

(g) Award Plaintiffs their costs and interest as permitted by law; and 

(h) Grant any other and further relief that the Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated: October 31, 2022          s/ David A. Garcia     
DAVID A. GARCIA      
Fla. Bar No. 1015673 
David Anthony Garcia PA    
739 Washington Ave, Suite 909    
Homestead, FL 33030     
Dir.: (305) 319-1309     
david@daivdgarcialaw.com    

 
Counsels for Plaintiffs  
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